IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID CRAIG MORTON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed

Docket Mar. 2583622 12:41 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

D. Ct. Clesks of Supreme Court

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF THE HONORABLE RICHARD WAGNER

SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KARLA K. BUTKO
Attorney for Appellant
P. O. Box 1249
Verdi, Nevada 89439
(775) 786-7118
State Bar No. 3307
butkolawoffice@sbcglobal.net

MICHAEL McDONALD
Humboldt County District Attorney
Attorney for Respondent
P. O. Box 909
Winnemucca, NV 89446
(775)623-6363

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION FOR SECOND DEGREE MURDER.
- 2. THE JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON THE STATE'S BURDEN TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT ACT UNDER PROVOCATION WHICH REDUCED THE CHARGE FROM MURDER TO MANSLAUGHTER.
- 3. IMPROPER PREJUDICIAL BAD ACT EVIDENCE WAS ERRONEOUSLY ADMITTED. FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON EVALUATION OF BAD ACT EVIDENCE RENDERED THE VERDICT OF THE JURY UNRELIABLE, IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.
- 4. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE DENIED THE STATE'S MOTION TO ADMIT THE STATEMENT MADE BY AN INTOXICATED DEFENDANT TO THE POLICE ON THE DATE OF THE SHOOTING. *MIRANDA* RIGHTS WERE NOT VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY OR INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED. ADMISSION OF THE STATEMENT VIOLATED THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.
- 5. ADMISSION OF CUMULATIVE GRAPHIC PHOTOS DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FIFTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.
- 6. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DENIGRATION OF DEFENSE COUNSEL PREJUDICED THE DEFENSE CASE. A MISTRIAL SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED. THE DISTRICT COURT APPEARS TO HAVE BEEN BIASED AGAINST DEFENSE COUNSEL HARDY.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 7. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AT SENTENCING WHEN IT RELIED UPON SUSPECT EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT. THE DISTRICT COURT DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF HIS RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION AND OF HIS RIGHT TO MAINTAIN HIS INNOCENCE AT SENTENCING, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO STRIKE THE PRESENTENCE REPORT.
- 8. CUMULATIVE ERRORS PRECLUDED A FAIR TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively handled by a transfer to the Court of Appeals and is exactly the direct appellate litigation that was anticipated to remain at the Nevada Supreme Court when the Court of Appeals was created. Mr. Morton has waited for an extensive period of time to get to this direct appeal. This case belongs at the Nevada Supreme Court.

The jury verdict and conviction that entered against David Craig Morton, ("Mr. Morton"), was on the charge of Second Degree Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a Category A felony, and the aggregate sentence imposed upon

this Defendant was that of 18 years to 45 years in prison. Under NRAP 17(b)(2) this case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. 4AA 919-924.

This case involves serious legal issues of interpretation by this Court and arguments which are worthy of oral argument. Actions of the trial judge toward defense counsel prejudiced the defense case. Defense counsel was erroneously dressed down in front of the jury on an issue that the trial court was wrong about. 2AA 442-445. The jury was never instructed correcting the error which allowed the jury to believe that defense counsel was mistaken when in fact, Judge Wagner was mistaken. 3AA 508-512.

This jury was never instructed that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the absence of provocation. 4AA 803-855. Bad act evidence was admitted at this trial without jury instruction on how to properly evaluate the bad act evidence. Cumulative graphic photographic evidence was admitted. 2AA 334-335. Three hundred thirty-five (335) photographs were sough to be admitted by the State. Three hundred thiry-two (332) photographs were admitted by the trial court. 5AA 1104-1123. A statement Mr. Morton made to police when his

blood alcohol level was over 0.276 was admitted as a voluntary and knowing statement to police. 5AA 1103.

The presentence report in this case should have been stricken by the Court and completely re-written. The presentence report contained suspect allegations which the record demonstrates were relied upon by the sentencing judge. Defense counsel objected to the content of the presentence report in a sentencing memorandum filed with the court and at argument during the sentencing hearing.

These serious errors are worthy of Supreme Court review.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over the direct appeal from the judgment of conviction which entered after a jury verdict of guilt. 4 (b). The judgment of conviction entered on January 20, 2011. 4AA 919-924. A timely petition for writ of habeas corpus (postconviction) was filed on December 29, 2011. 4AA 925-939. After conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the appeal deprivation claim was granted by the district court on November 30, 2021. 5AA 1039-1048. The notice of appeal was timely filed on December 2, 2021. 5AA 1049-1064.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 2009, the State filed its open murder charge by way of an Information against Mr. Morton. 1AA 1-5. The murder charge included a deadly weapon enhancement. Count II of the Information charged Mr. Morton with discharging a firearm in an occupied residence in violation of NRS 202.287(b). 1AA 1-5. Mr. Morton was appointed counsel to represent him, Richard Molezzo. At some point in the defense, Del Hardy joined the defense team.

Factually, the Information charged Mr. Morton with shooting his wife,

Cynthia, with premeditation, deliberation and malice aforethought. There was one
gun shot fired. The defense at trial was that of an accidental discharge. 1AA 1-5.

The jury ultimately convicted Mr. Morton of second degree murder, enhanced by
the use of a firearm and the crime of discharging a firearm in an occupied

dwelling. 5AA 1086.

The State filed a motion to admit the interview statement Mr. Morton provided the police the night of the shooting. 5AA 1064-1074. At the time Mr. Morton provided the police interview his blood alcohol was tested at 0.276. 5AA

1081, 1103. Mr. Morton's statement to the police was not recorded by the police. It was admitted against him at trial over defense objection. Mr. Morton did take the stand in his own defense and testify before the jury.

The defense filed a motion to preclude admission of prior bad act allegations of domestic violence and arguments between Mr. Morton and his wife, Cynthia. 5AA 1082-1085. In spite of that objection, evidence of prior domestic battery was admitted to the jury without any type of instruction on how to evaluate the evidence.

The case proceeded to jury trial. During that trial, Judge Robert Wagner, dressed down defense counsel Del Hardy in front of the jury. 2AA 4424-445. A review of the transcript is mandatory. Ultimately, Judge Wagner admitted he was wrong on his definition of homicide and agreed to correct the definition in the jury instructions. Judge Wagner never did so. 3AA 509-512. The jury was not instructed that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the absence of adequate provocation to take the charge to murder rather than the manslaughter charge. 4AA 803-855.

The case proceeded to sentencing on January 14, 2011. 4AA 870. The actual judgment of conviction entered on January 20, 2011. 4 AA 919. Prior to the sentencing, a presentence report was prepared by the Department of Parole & Probation. Defense counsel objected to that PSI in a formal filed sentencing memorandum and objected during the sentencing hearing. 5AA 1087-1095. The record demonstrates that Judge Wagner relied upon the suspect evidence relayed in that PSI. (See PSI).

During the sentencing hearing, Judge Wagner attempted to impose an illegally excessive sentence on the enhancement for the deadly weapon. An objection was made and Judge Wagner reverted to simply imposing the maximum possible sentence on the enhancement. At the same hearing, Judge Wagner refused to allow Mr. Morton to maintain his innocence and demanded that he admit guilt. The jury had convicted Mr. Morton. 4AA 885, 914, 917.

Trial counsel did not appeal. Mr. Morton filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus (postconviction) in which one of the claims was loss of direct appellate review due to counsel's improper advice. Due to no fault of Mr. Morton, the

postconviction languished. Two separate appointed attorneys took no action to further the litigation. Mr. Morton retained Ms. Butko and the postconviction case proceeded to a two day evidentiary hearing. Ultimately, the District Court granted a belated appeal under NRAP 4 (C) and stayed its rulings on the other postconviction claims. 4AA 925-939; 950-986; 5AA 1039-1048. A timely notice of appeal was filed. 4AA 1049-1064.

While the postconviction case was languishing at the district court, Mr.

Morton filed an appeal at the Nevada Supreme Court in Docket 60625. The

appellate court ruled that it did not have jurisdiction over the appeal and dismissed it on April 17, 2012.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

David Craig Morton met his Wife, Cynthia Morton, in high school. They married young and had two children, Chad and Robert. Their marriage took a poor turn and they argued frequently. Mr. Morton worked for the railroad and was often traveling for work. Cynthia and he fought the night of the shooting. Mr. Morton testified that he had been drinking alcoholic beverages, that Cynthia left to

live in Salt Lake City and they were getting divorced. Mr. Morton had prepared divorce papers on three separate occasions. Cynthia would destroy the documents. Cynthia returned on the train from Salt Lake City. He and Cynthia went to a friend's house and were drinking together for about three hours. Cynthia drove him home. They argued. Mr. Morton went to bed. He awoke to Cynthia hitting him and yelling. He was naked. He went downstairs and picked up an antique gun, was planning on going outside to shoot himself. He brought the gun out to show her that he meant to kill himself and the gun discharged, with the bullet striking Cynthia in the abdomen. Mr. Morton testified adamantly that he did not point the gun at Cynthia, that he did not pull the gun to his shoulder and that the gun discharged. Mr. Morton was not a gun advocate, hunter or an experienced person with a gun. An ambulance was called and Cynthia was hospitalized for a period of time before she succumbed to the injury and died. 3AA 708-728.

Mr. Morton took the gun outside with every intent of killing himself. His son, Robert, stepped in, fought with him over the gun and eventually took the gun away from his father. Robert kept his father on the ground until police arrived.

3AA 718.

Chad Morton testified that he never saw his father shoot the 1918 antique .303 firearm. Chad Morton testified that he did not like that firearm. 3AA 539-548.

Defense expert Robert Venkus testified that he test fired this gun in the same type of setting and that three times out of four when the gun stock struck the doorway, the gun accidentally discharged. The 1918 antique weapon had been "sporterized" and was very dangerous. The trigger pull was light and the gun's safety was very worn out. If the safety was off, the gun would fire with no further motion on the trigger. 4AA 755-773.

Police interviewed Mr. Morton on the night of the shooting, in spite of the fact that his blood alcohol was at 0.276. At the scene, Mr. Morton told the officers that he did not want to talk to them. Mr. Morton was suicidal at the jail and attempted to injure his neck with a piece of broken Formica. That statement was ignored and Mr. Morton was interviewed at the jail where he told the officer that he was trying to scare the victim and could not believe that he shot her.

Neither interview was recorded. Even the investigating officer testified that he was not convinced that this was an intentional shooting. 2AA 337, 417, 5AA 1103.

During the testimony of Robert Morton, Robert testified that in the past his brother Chad called police because Mr. Morton punched Cynthia in the face.

Robert testified that the police were called by Mr. Morton when Cynthia beat him up. During this testimony, the State moved to admit evidence stating that the defense opened the door to the bad act evidence. The defense replied that the evidence was more prejudicial than probative and not admissible. The district court told the State's prosecutor what they should do to get the evidence admitted. 1AA 196.

During the trial, graphic pictures were admitted as evidence. Defense counsel objected. The district court acknowledged that the photographs were graphic but admitted them anyway. The prosecutor even warned the jury as to how graphic the pictures were. The State offered 335 photographs as evidence in this trial. The Court admitted 332. Only three photographs were ruled to be

cumulative by the Court. 2AA 334-335; 2AA 298-300; 5AA 1104-1123.

Evidence was admitted to demonstrate prescription medications taken by Cynthia including Hydrocodone, Lyrica, Carvedilol, Clonodine and others, issued by various doctors. 2AA 393, 404-409.

Del Hardy joined the defense team and conducted the cross examination of Ellen Clark, M.D., expert on the autopsy and cause of death. During that cross examination, Del Hardy was chastised by Judge Wagner in front of the jury. The defense team argued that Sepsis and MRSA intervened and caused the death of Cynthia. Judge Wagner provided the jury with an improper definition of homicide. Del Hardy objected. The court stated that it would cure this issue with a proper definition of homicide in its written instructions. The court did not do so.

Judge Wagner stated:

"Just a second. You're using some legal terms, sir. Homicide is an unlawful killing of another human being. And I don't want it confused here as to terms that you're using that I will define what the law is to the jury in terms of what homicide is and so forth. She's not the one to determine that, nor are you. But when you use the word homicide, it implies criminal agency. I just want you to understand that."

Mr. Hardy: "Well, Your Honor, in regard to homicide, um, using Black's

dictionary definition of homicide. It's simply the killing of one human being or another."

DA: "I would object to that, Your Honor. It doesn't matter -"

Judge Wagner: "We're not going to argue the law here, gentlemen. I'm just telling you, you're using the word as a legal term that I will define for the jury. So you can ask her questions of a lay nature, but for her or you to assume the legal definition, which I will tell the jury about at the end of the case" --

Mr. Hardy: "Right."

Judge Wagner: "is not appropriate. I'm just telling you that.

Mr. Hardy: "All right Your Honor."

The Court: "So"

Mr. Hardy: By the way, since I mentioned this to you, would the Court like a copy of the"

Judge Wagner: "Laws?"

Mr. Hardy: In regard to Law–Black's Law Dictionary since I did make a reference to it?"

Judge Wagner: "No sir."

Mr. Hardy: "All right. Thank you."

Judge Wagner: "It's like a dictionary. There's thousands of cases and other things that also define homicide. So I don't want to get into this debate with you."

2AA 442-445.

During the next recess, Mr. Hardy apologized and told the court he was not

trying to argue with the court but wanted to make a good record. Judge Wagner advised counsel to seek to have the jury removed to have discussions with him.

Mr. Hardy even used the phrase, "In the heat of it, while I was standing here talking to you about that, Judge, that simply just didn't come to mind." Mr. Hardy told the Court that he still believed the Court improperly instructed the jury on the definition of homicide. Judge Wagner agreed and stated that he was wrong and would correct that error in the instructions. Judge Wagner admitted that he mixed up the definition of murder with that of homicide. 3AA 509-511.

The jury was instructed on voluntary manslaughter. The transition instruction advised the jury that if they found the defendant not guilty (acquit first) or were unable to unanimously agree whether to acquit of convict, they could review the charges of voluntary or involuntary manslaughter. JI 9 at 4AA 413. The voluntary manslaughter instruction failed to advise the jury that it was the State's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Morton did not act under adequate provocation to reduce the charge from murder to manslaughter. JI's 24, 25, 26 and 27 at 4AA 832-836.

Prejudicial bad act evidence was admitted during this trial, include past allegations of domestic violence between the defendant and the victim, drinking to excess, and bad language. The jury was not instructed under NRS 48.045 or *Tavares.* 4AA 803-855.

The presentence report stated:

"It is horrific to imagine that a union where two people vowed to love, honor and cherish each other could end in such tragedy. It is impossible to understand the extreme psychological trauma a child would go through seeing his mother, who was just shot by his father, lying in the floor covered in blood. In fact, the way Mr. Morton shot his wife was a heartless and demoralizing act of hate and rage." Page 8, PSI.

As noted, the jury did not convict Mr. Morton of first degree murder. 5AA 1086. The report painted Cynthia Morton as a beloved mother, grandmother, sister, daughter and friend. The report failed to note that Cynthia had been arrested for domestic abuse upon David and agreed to enter into treatment to get the charge dismissed. Cynthia was an alcoholic and drug user. The report went forth to recommend maximum consecutive sentences on all charges and enhancements.

Prior to the sentencing hearing, Judge Wagner advised counsel that he did

not believe that Mr. Morton had the right to maintain his innocence. The jury had found him guilty. Judge Wagner refused to allow Mr. Morton to stand by his defense that the discharge of the firearm was accidental. Judge Wagner refused to allow Mr. Morton to state at sentencing that he maintained his innocence. Judge Wagner took into account his own interpretation of the life of the Morton family, attributed that thirty years of domestic abuse had been happening. Mr Morton's family members were in court but Judge Wagner did not acknowledge that. Judge Wagner attempted to impose a sentence of 300 months on the top end of the weapon enhancement and had to be told by defense counsel that would be illegal. He then imposed the maximum possible weapon enhancement. This appeal follows a lengthy period of time to get to an evidentiary hearing and gain access to a belated appeal pursuant to NRAP 4 (C). 4AA 914-916, 5AA 1049.

ARGUMENT

1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE JURY CONVICTION FOR SECOND DEGREE MURDER WITH THE USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON.

Standard of Review:

Insufficiency of the evidence occurs where the prosecution has not produced "a minimum threshold of evidence" upon which a conviction may be based. *State v. Walker*, 109 Nev. 683, 685, 857 P.2d 1, 2 (1993). It occurs when, even if the evidence presented at trial were believed by the jury, it would still be insufficient to sustain a conviction, as it could not convince a reasonable and fair-minded jury of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Indeed, when there is truly insufficient evidence to convict, a defendant must be acquitted. *Evans v. State*, 112 Nev. 1172, 1193, 926 P.2d 265, 279 (1996), *emphasis added*.

Argument:

This murder conviction should be set aside. The combination of the testimony of the investigating officer who stated he did not believe this shooting was intentional, coupled with the defense expert explaining that this 1918 antique firearm accidentally discharged three times out of four when the stock hit the doorway demonstrates just how insufficient the evidence was.

Mr. Morton's blood alcohol content was in excess of 0.276 at the time of the shooting. He was naked. He was going to kill himself. The gun, a 1918 antique

303 which had been "sporterized" was very dangerous. Mr. Morton was not familiar with guns and his sons had not witnessed him ever shoot the .303 antique firearm. 4AA 755-773.

The relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Milton v. State*, 111

Nev. 1487, 1491, 908 P.2d 684, 686-87 (1995); *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979); *Mitchell v. State*, 124 Nev. 807, 816, 192 P.3d 721, 727 (2008).

A review of this record does not provide sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for second degree murder.

2. THE JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON THE STATE'S BURDEN TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT ACT UNDER PROVOCATION WHICH REDUCED THE CHARGE TO MANSLAUGHTER.

Standard of Review:

This court reviews a district court's decision settling jury instructions for an abuse of discretion or judicial error. *Brooks v. State*, 124 Nev. 203, 206, 180 P.3d 657, 658-59 (2008); however, whether the instruction was an accurate statement of

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