I. INTRODUCTION

The State’s answering brief is subtle in its attempt to shift the burden of
proof and objection from the State to defense counsel, ignoring the central thrust to
Mr. Morton’s arguments in the process. The State also heavily relies on the
proposition that trial counsel’s decisions are “virtually unchallengeable” Doleman
v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996). However, this principle is
only applicable in a post-conviction setting—the present action is an original
appeal, as belated as it is.

The following reply brief is not intended to reargue the points made in
Appellant's opening brief, but rather to illustrate points of severe disagreement
between the parties.

il. ARGUMENT

a. The State’s Routing Statement Mischaracterizes NRAP 17.
Appellant correctly identified that the current case is not presumptively
applied to the intermediate court of appeals. However, the State argues that
because a case does not fall into the enumerated cases assigned to the Supreme
Court that it must be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.
The State’s position is logically infirm. If a case is not presumptively
assigned to the court of appeals under NRAP 17(b)(2), then it should not be

assigned absent some extreme circumstance. To presumptively assign a case to the




Court of Appeals when the NRAP on point expressly refuses to do so would be to
render the rule null and void—assuredly not this Court’s purpose in adopting the
NRAP.
b. The State’s Argument In Response to Its Failure to Issue
Appropriate Jury Instructions Improperly Shifts the Burden to
Mr. Morton.

Manslaughter is a lesser included offense for murder. See Williams v. State,
99 Nev. 530, 531, 665 P.2d 260, 261 (1983). A defendant has the right to have the
jury instructed on his or her theory of the case. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744,
748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). The State has the burden to prove every element of
the case against the Defendant. Indeed, in the case of self-defense, this court has
expressly held that instructions imposing a burden of proof on the defendant to
negate an element of their defense is improper. See St. Pierre v. State, 96 Nev.
887, 890-91, 620 P.2d 1240, 1241-42 (1980).

There was evidence produced at trial to support a finding of manslaughter.
Evidence was presented that they had been drinking the night of the incident, that
there had been some form of altercation, and that the couple was in talks of
divorcing. Given these facts, it is entirely possible that the jury could have come to
convict Mr. Morton on the lesser-included crime of manslaughter.

It will be conceded that jury instructions 26 and 28 detail the elements

that the State had to prove to convict Mr. Morton on manslaughter.



Jury instruction 26 provides that the State had to prove each element:
That the Defendant;

On or about the 6™ day of August, 2009;

In Humboldt County, Nevada;

Did kill another person;

After having a serious and highly provokmg injury inflicted
upon himself sufficient to excite an irresistible passion in a reasonable
person, or an attempt by the person killed to commit a serious
personal injury on the person kill;

6. With the use of a deadly weapon. 4AA 835.

WD

Jury Instruction 28 provided that the State had to prove each of the following
items to convict on involuntary manslaughter:

1 That the Defendant;

2 On or about the 6th day of August, 2009;

3. In Humboldt County, Nevada;

4. Did willfully;

5 In the commission of an unlawful act;

6. Or a lawful act which probably might produce such a

consequence in an unlawful manner;

7. with the intent to do so;

8. Kill another human being. 4AA 837.

However, the State has cleverly conflated an instruction that the State had to
prove provocation with an instruction that the State had an affirmative duty to
prove that there was no such provocation. Proof of a thing and proof of the
absence of a thing are entirely different logical propositions. It is a much different
burden for the State to prove, affirmatively, that Mr. Morton was not adequately

provoked by his wife’s behavior than to prove that he was provoked by her

behavior. These jury instructions do not account for the proper burden.




The State must prove that Mr. Morton acted maliciously. Judge Wagner’s
discussion with defense counsel Del Hardy let the jury believe that malice was not
a required element of murder. The jury could have determined that Mr. Morton
committed an unlawful act that was dangerous in the abstract and that Cynthia died
because his decision to grab the gun while drunk, and while the gun was loaded,
was inherently dangerous. See Guidry v. State, 138 Nev. Adv. Op 39, decided
June 2, 2022. The evidence of malice was lacking. Mr. Morton was highly
intoxicated, naked, had an argument with his wife and was going to kill himself.

The fact that he had been experiencing marital troubles, was mentally
handicapped by alcohol, and awoke to his wife hitting and screaming at him may
very well have supplied sufficient facts to the jury to support provocation. The
burden was on the State to prove a lack of provocation, and the failure of the Court
to issue an appropriate jury instruction improperly lowered the State’s burden of
proof, prejudicing Mr. Morton by rendering a lesser-included charge of
manslaughter more difficult to convict. Mr. Morton is entitled to a new, properly
instructed, jury.

c. The State Continuously and Improperly Relies on Doleman v.
State for the Proposition that Strategic Decisions are Virtually
Unchallengeable.

The State references Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278,

280 (1196) no less than six times in its brief for the proposition that strategic




decisions of trial counsel are “virtually unchallengeable” no less than six times in
support of its brief.

Not only is Doleman a post-conviction action, and therefore of questionable
legal relevance in the original appellate context, but this Court in Doleman found
counsel actively ineffective—expressly evaluating and finding that trial counsel’s
strategic decisions were improper. Trial counsel’s strategic decisions were very
much successfully challenged.

Any reliance on Doleman as effective authority should be properly
circumscribed by this Court.

d. With Regard to the Prior Bad Act Testimony, The State Again
Improperly Shifts the Burden to Defendant.

The State argues that Mr. Morton’s trial counsel opened the door for prior
bad act evidence to be introduced at the trial. It continues to argue that fact, paired
with the court’s regulation of the subsequent questions asked to the witness, is
enough to cure any harm caused by the prior bad act evidence. 1AA 207-08.
Again, this argument ignores the respective burdens in this case.

“A presumption of inadmisstbility attaches to all prior bad act evidence.”
Braunstein v. State, 118 Nev. 68, 72, 40 P.3d 413, 416 (2002). When a court
introduces prior bad act evidence, it “should give the jury a specific instruction
explaining the purposes for which the evidence is admitted immediately prior to its

admission and should give a general instruction at the end of the trial reminding
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the jurors that certain evidence may only be used for limited purposes.” Tavares v.
State, 117 Nev. 725, 30, 30 P.3d 1128 (2001).
The court did not issue a limiting instruction at the time of introduction. It
did not issue a limiting instruction at the end of the trial. It did not provide a
limiting instruction in the jury instructions. It did not ask for defense waiver. It
did not conduct a Petrocelli hearing. The State did not request a limiting
instruction despite briefing the matter. McLellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 269, 132
P.3d 106, 110-11 (2008) (affirming that prosecutors have such a duty). The court
did not issue a limiting instruction sua sponte. Id. (establishing that courts have
such a duty). To hold that allowing prior bad act evidence error to be cured by
limiting the prosecutor’s follow-up question would be to void a substantial amount
of precedence on this issue.
Mr. Morton is entitled to another trial at which prior bad act evidence it dealt
with properly by the parties burdened by its circumspection.
e. Any Argument that Mr. Morton was in any Condition to
Knowingly, Freely, and Voluntarily Waive his Constitutional
Rights is Made in Bad Faith.
Critically, this Court applies a totality of the circumstances test to determine
the voluntariness of a confession. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 923 P.2d 1102,

1109 (1996). An evaluation of the totality of the circumstances in this case

establishes that Mr. Morton clearly lacked the ability voluntarily deliver a




confession. Second, to waive a defendant’s Miranda rights, a defendant must do so
“yoluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently.” Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426,
475-77 (1966).

Mr. Morton was not simply “inebriated.” He was dangerously drunk when
he was taken into custody. Specifically, his BAC was a 0.276, three and a half
times the legal limit. SAA 1103. The State attempted to brush this decisive fact
under the table by saying they court decided he was able to waive Miranda “when
it ruled his statements admissible.” This argument could hold water, but for the
fact that Mr. Morton’s signature on the Miranda waiver differs wildly from his
normal signature. 4AA 983, 984; 5AA 1081. His inebriated signature
demonstrates that his physical and mental condition at the time differed so wildly
from his sober, competent state, that he was unable to knowingly waive his
Miranda rights.

Thus, objectively speaking, there is clear and convincing evidence that Mr.
Morton was physically incapable of either giving a confession or waiving his
Miranda rights. Subjectively speaking, Mr. Morton had just shot his wife, and,
although they had their disagreements, she was his high school sweetheart. His
conduct at that time, and in the time since, is consistent with deep grief and regret.
The idea that he could shoot his wife, while heavily intoxicated, but still possess

the emotional state to knowingly, voluntarily, and willfully waive his Miranda



rights to give a voluntary confession is, frankly, absurd. The district court’s
determination, if indeed it made one considering all these factors, was an abuse of
discretion that baselessly ignored the facts before the court. In order for Miranda
to have any meaning, his confession must be struck from the record and prevented
from being introduced in subsequent matters.
f. The State’s Reliance on Doyle in Arguing that 335 Graphic
Photographs Were not Prejudicial and Cumulative Evidence is
Misplaced.

Again, it should be noted that, although most of the State’s argument for this
issue on original appeal relies on Doyle v. State, 116 Nev. 148, 995 P.2d 465
(2000), a post-conviction action, and should be treated as such. In the context of
cumulative evidence, a post-conviction action alleges that allowing cumulative
evidence was a fault of the attorney in failing to object. An original appeal action
in the same context alleges that the court itself was remiss in allowing the
evidence. The standards and evaluations differ between the two actions.

In this original appeal, Mr. Morton alleges that the fact of his wife’s death
and injuries were not at issue. Those facts could easily have been established with
a few dozen pictures, at most. Including 335 gruesome pictures serves only one
purpose—to improperly enflame the passions of the jury against Mr. Morton.

The present case differs heavily from the facts in Doyle. Doyle was a capital

case in which the defendant was sentenced to death, was, again, a post-conviction




matter, and critically never discussed the number of photographs admitted. In fact,
the only time Doyle discusses which pictures are gruesome is when it states “Two
of the photographs depict injuries to Mason's head and face, and are gruesome.”
Doyle v. State, 116 Nev. 148, 160 (Nev. 2000)(emphasis added).” Doyle, then, as
far as can be gleaned from the decision, had two gruesome photographs.

In contrast, Mr. Morton’s case is an original appeal, non-capital case with
335 photographs entered into evidence. Counsel is not in possession of the
hundreds of photographs, but counsel challenges this court to go to SAA1106-
1122, flip through the pages and go line by line to see the word “photograph.”
Counsel is confident that, having done so, this court will easily conclude that this
many gruesome photographs is cumulative and highly prejudicial. Mr. Morton
would also like to note that merely labeling an exhibit “photograph” with no other
identifying information is a reversible error by the district court as well as it makes
appellate and post-conviction counsel’s subsequent review of the record
unconstitutionally difficult. Including this many cumulative, gory pictures into
evidence was an abuse of discretion. Mr. Morton is entitled to a new trial at which
this degree of cumulative evidence is prohibited.

g. The State Ignores the Fact that the District Court Relied on
Suspect Evidence in Delivering its Sentence.

The State, in its answering brief, dedicates a substantial amount of its

argument to the proposition that, since Mr. Morton’s sentence was legal, it was,
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ipso facto, proper and constitutional. This proposition fails for three reasons: (1)
The district court relied on suspect evidence in delivering its sentence; (2)
Although the sentence was legal, it was the absolute maximum sentence permitted
for the weapon enhancement; and (3) it is clear that the court was personally
opposed to Mr. Morton, believed he was guilty of thirty years of domestic abuse,
without any evidence of that, and sought unconstitutionally excessive sentence.

First, the district court relied on suspect evidence in making its
determination. None of the character or victim witnesses were sworn in before
they gave their presentation. 4AA 866, 898-900. There was nothing legally or
morally to prevent them from inventing stories or alleging false facts as there was
no penalty for doing so. This is categorically suspect evidence supplied to the
court in its sentencing determination.

The primary evidence relied upon by the district court in its determination
that domestic abuse was an aggravating factor was a police statement made
without a testifying witness. Perhaps most egregious was that the PSR in this case
was rife with unnecessarily inflammatory language (e.g. “demoralizing act of hate
and rage”). Reliance upon highly suspect evidence supports a finding of abuse of
discretion by the district court. See Blankenship v. State, 132 Nev. 500, 508, 375

P.3d 407, 412 (2016).
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Second, although the sentence in this case was within bounds, it was at the
maximum weapon enhancement on one gunshot from an antique weapon with a
drunk, naked defendant. There are sentencing ranges for a reason—so that the
least egregious examples can get lighter sentences, while the maximum sentence is
reserved only for the most reprehensible possible crimes. There are many
mitigating factors in this case, and indeed, significant evidence that the fircarm
discharge was accidental. There was no rational reason for the district court to
maximize the weapon enhancement in a case that, Mr. Morton is sure this Court
will agree, is easily not the most reprehensible example. The district court’s
delivery of a maximum enhancement sentence in this matter demonstrates that it
was not using a reasoned evaluation but was the result of prejudice against the
defendant himself, and as such, is an abuse of discretion.

Finally, and most telling, the district court was so emotionally prejudiced
against Mr. Morton that it could never have delivered a reasoned and appropriate
sentence. The district court informed Mr. Morton that he was not permitted to
maintain his innocence in direct contravention of applicable authority. See
Mitchell v. United States, 526 U.S. 314 (1999); 4AA 885.Mr. Morton was
sentenced to maximum sentence on the weapon enhancement despite the fact that
the district court found mitigating factors. To acknowledge the existence of

mitigating factors but fail to depart downwards in any fashion demonstrates that
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the court wanted to give Mr. Morton a maximum sentence on the weapons
enhancement, regardless of what he was able to prove or argue at sentencing.

The district court’s decision was based upon suspect evidence and emotion
rather than evidence and reason. The sentence in this case is excessive, not
“sufficient, but not greater than necessary” to accomplish sentencing goals. Unrited
States vs. Vasquez-Landaver, 527 F.3d 798, 804-05 (9th Cir. 2008). It was an
abuse of discretion. Mr. Morton is owed a new sentencing before a neutral
officiant.

a. The Offenses Charged by the State in this Case Weighs the Third
Valdez Factor in Mr. Morton’s Favor.

In evaluating cumulative error claims, three factors are determinative: (1)
whether the issue of guilt was close; (2) the quantity and character of error; and (3)
the gravity of the crime charged. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 196 P.3d 468
(2008).

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